
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
 
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.
 

Get Adobe Reader Now! 

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader




Director’s Report 
March 2021 


ADA Transition Plan 


- Drafted a resolution for the acceptance of the plan.  
- The plan was accepted by City Council on February 9th. I attended the meeting and gave an 


overview of the plan.  


High School Baseball Diamond Light Removal Project 


- The lights were removed on February 25th.  
- The osprey nest was relocated to Paradise Pond with help from Hooper Construction, Stoughton 


Utilities, and the Public Works Department.  


Park Impact Fees & Fee in Lieu of Study 


- City staff reviewed the draft plan and identified that road costs were not included in the fee. A 
meeting was then scheduled between the consultant from Baker Tilly and Laura Callen from 
Stafford Rosenbaum. It was determined at that meeting that road costs should be included in 
the park improvement fee and not the land fee. I inventoried road frontage for the City’s active 
use parks to aid in the calculation. The Fee in Lieu of calculation for current fees is higher than 
the proposed fee due to the road costs most likely being included into the land value.  


- Drafted a memo for the Parks & Recreation Committee, Planning Commission, and City Council.  


Riverfront Project 


- There were many questions in the chat during the Committee of the Whole meeting. I reached 
out to many experts regarding the questions. It took a week to get responses and get them 
compiled.   


- Met with the DNR staff regarding permitting for the first phase improvements. The permits have 
been submitted and we are awaiting feedback from the DNR.  


- Met with the grants staff from the DNR regarding the upcoming application. Not much has 
changed since last year and we should be in a good place for this year’s round of grants.  


- We did find out that the National Park Service has not opened the application option for the 
DNR to submit the paperwork for the Land Water Conservation Fund grant that we were 
tentatively awarded. They are months behind schedule and we were told it was due to the 
transition of the different president administrations. We were told by DNR staff to not sign any 
contracts for the work until the grant agreement is signed.  


- We are still waiting for a high flow situation to complete the last round of survey data collection 
for the model.  


- Multiple presentations to public groups have been given over the past couple of months. They 
include:  


o Dunkirk Dam Lake District 
o Township of Dunkirk 
o Committee of the Whole  
o Madison College Park Facilities Planning Course 
o Wisconsin Parks & Recreation Association Regional Meeting (scheduled for 3/19 with 


presentation completed)  


Rotary Park Project 







Director’s Report 
March 2021 


- We picked out colors for the roof, doors, and restrooms. The roof and doors will be brown and 
the inside of the restrooms will be a light gray color.  


- We upgraded the doors and frames to a heavier gauge steel for a nominal fee. This was 
recommended by LaForce who installs mag locks. All faucets, hand dryers, and toilets will be 
touchless.  


- I reached out to the Rotary Club about modifying the rail facing the lawn area. They are working 
on scheduling a meeting to discuss this.  


Bjoin Park  


- ERC will be installing and maintaining the prairie. The schedule is TBD at this point due to the 
weather. Once it becomes formalized, we will send a letter to update the neighbors of the park.  


- We will be having a 12 foot wide by 8 foot high tennis backboard at the court. This is the most 
common size according to the supplier. It is made out of fiberglass which should be low 
maintenance and less noisy than a wood backboard. This with the striping of the court will use 
the remainder of the funds budgeted in 2018 for the court.   
 


Nordic Ridge Inclusive Playground 


- There has been no activity. We are waiting for the snow to melt to stake the playground area so 
we can have concrete contractors visit the site and submit quotes.  


Council Goals  


- Alderperson Reeves included a goal of having bike repair stations in Stoughton. I reached out to 
Harald Klemis, President of Madison Bikes, about them. He connected me with Chuck Strawser 
and John Rider. Chuck plans the pedestrian facilities for UW-Madison and John is a staff member 
for the City of Madison’s Pedestrian-Bicycle Program. They both recommended the Dero Fixit 
for the repair station due to the tools being sheltered from weather and the Saris bike pump. 
This was discussed at the River & Trails Taskforce Meeting where it received a lukewarm 
reception. Some felt that repair stations would not get used. I circled back with Harald, Chuck, 
and John following the meeting to see if they had any standards for where the repair stations 
were placed. They didn’t, but they felt that they brought a lot of value to the trail system and 
cyclists, and recommended having a pilot station.  


- Alderperson Majewski had two council goals. One was centered around increasing the park 
dedication requirement. This was found to not be possible utilizing the Park Impact Fee & Fee in 
Lieu of study since the law prohibits this. If the City would like to expand parkland, then we will 
need to utilize a different avenue to get there. With the most likely scenario to be borrowing. 
The DNR Recreational Grant Program does provide matching funds for land purchases, however. 
The other goal of his was to identify new parkland within the City and within 1 mile outside of 
the City limits. I started reviewing maps from the City’s Comprehensive plan to identify land. We 
will most likely need to have the Parks & Recreation Committee meet in person so maps can be 
shared.  


Mandt Park Master Plan 







Director’s Report 
March 2021 


- We had the stakeholder meetings on February 11th. The next step for the consultants is to 
develop draft concepts. We have a meeting scheduled to review the concepts on March 18th.  


Recreation & Youth Center  


- The activities guide for the summer is almost completed. We delayed the publishing of it due to 
COVID and it will be sent out in early May. We now have a better idea of what will and what 
won’t be allowed this summer due to multiple meetings with the Public Health Department. We 
are likely to have a regular Troll Beach season if things stay the way they are now.  


- I filled out the Bryant Foundation grant applications and updated the FSAYC budget as part of 
the process. The Bryant Foundation has assisted in the funding of staff.  


- Attended the quarterly FSAYC meeting on March 11. There is a board opening if you know of 
anyone interested. The board provides oversight and helps with fundraising.  


- The weekend of March 13-14 is the first time we are able to be back in the school gyms since 
the pandemic started. We will be having a youth basketball clinic and open gyms on Sundays. 
The youth basketball clinic is almost full and it was on short notice, so people are eager to get 
back in-person programming. We are requiring advance registration for the open gym so we can 
limit attendance.  


- The Youth Center is open in a limited capacity. Staff had the opportunity to receive COVID 
vaccinations due to it being classified as a childcare center.  


- I submitted monthly reports that the County requires as part of our grant obligation.  
- The community garden is filling up fast. I have been working on compiling the list and assigning 


garden plots.  
- The Friends of Gazebo Musikk have booked the bands for the summer. We are planning on 


having the concerts at Rotary Park, but we still have the option of returning to drive-in concerts 
at Mandt Park. Raine Stern performed at Gazebo Musikk last season and is now a contestant on 
the show The Voice.  


- The 2021 sponsorship program was completed and mailed out to local businesses. The returning 
sponsors for Gazebo Musikk will be given a free bonus show in 2021 since we didn’t have our 
normal season or crowd size in 2020. Any sponsorship for a youth program that didn’t in 2020 
will be carried over to 2021.  


Misc.  


- I was approached by two community members who would like to rehab the bike park at Lowell 
Park. One is a project manager for Findorf and the other used to build these professionally in 
Colorado. We scoped out the project for the park. They are going to put together a phasing plan 
along with improvements. They would like to rehab the dirt jumps this summer as way to build 
interest. I got them into contact with the Community Foundation so that the Community 
Foundation could manage the funds they raise. They are scheduled to be at the Community 
Foundation meeting on 3/16. 


- We will be hosting the Regional Wisconsin Parks & Recreation Association Meeting on 3/19. 
Membership is interested in how the River Park Project is progressing and how we updated our 
impact fees.   








 
 
 
Present: Alderpersons: Phil Caravello, Regina Hirsch, Ben Heili, Joyce Tikalsky, Mayor Tim 
Swadley and Parks & Recreation Director Dan Glynn  
 
Guests: Dan Schmidt 
 
Meeting called to order at 6:11 pm.  
 
Approval of Minutes from December 15, 2020; 
Motion to approve the Minutes from December 15, 2020 by Hirsch seconded by Heili 
Motion carried unanimously 
 
Communication; Committee of the Whole meeting February 4th at 6:30.  
Dunkirk Dam District meeting January 20th at 6:00 
 
Directors Report-Director Glynn highlighted updates on High School Baseball light removal and 
potential Osprey nest relocation and the Stoughton Area Youth Center programming  
 
ADA Transition Plan; Dan Schmidt from MSA presented the plan and answered questions. 
Motion by Tikalsky, seconded by Heili to recommend city council accept the plan 
Motion carried unanimously 
 
Rotary Park Project Bids; Director Glynn reviewed the project and bids  
Motion by Hirsch, seconded by Heili to recommend Finance Committee accept the bid and alternative bid 
from Speedway Sand and Gravel and use Park Development Funds to cover the budget gap 
Motion carried unanimously 
 
Yahara Riverfront Project-Riverwalk Design Review; Director Glynn provided an overview of the trail 
system progress on the RDA property 
 
Future Agenda Items  
 
Virgin Lake Trail Designing and Engineering 
Park Design Guidelines/ Acquisition 
Park Impact Fee & Fee in Lieu of Study  
Future Parkland Dedication money uses 
Council Goals 
 
Motion to adjourn by Hirsch seconded by Tikalsky  
Motion carried unanimously at 7:47 pm 








 


 


OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA  
Notice is hereby given that the Parks and Recreation Committee of the City of Stoughton, 
Wisconsin will hold a regular or special meeting as indicated on the date, time and location 
given below. 


 


Meeting of the: 
Date /Time: 
Location: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Members: 
 
CC: 


PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON 
Tuesday, March 16, 2021 at 6:00 pm 
Please join my meeting from your computer, tablet or smartphone.  
https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/226996413  
 
You can also dial in using your phone.  
United States: +1 (408) 650-3123  
 
Access Code: 226-996-413  
 
 
New to GoToMeeting? Get the app now and be ready when your first meeting 
starts: https://global.gotomeeting.com/install/226996413 
 
 


    Regina Hirsch, Phil Caravello, Ben Heili, Joyce Tikalsky, Tim Swadley 
 
Attorney Matt Dregne, Department Heads, Stoughton Newspapers,  
Judi Krebs, Pat Groom, Sarah Monette, Jon Lewis, Bob Diebel, Desi Weum, 
C il M b   


Item #   CALL TO ORDER 
1   Call to Order    
 
2 Approval of Minutes from January 19, 2021 
 
3 Communication  
 Director’s Report   
Item #   OLD BUSINESS     
  
Item #   NEW BUSINESS      
 
4 Park Impact Fee, Fee in Lieu of Land Dedication, and Public Facility 


Needs Assessment (Discussion & Possible Action) 
 
5   Future Agenda Items 
   Park Design Guidelines  
   Council Goals  
   Future Parkland Acquisitions  
  
     
Item #   ADJOURNMENT  



https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/226996413

tel:+14086503123,,226996413

https://global.gotomeeting.com/install/226996413






 


Date:  March 10, 2021   


To:   Parks & Recreation Committee, Planning Commission, and City Council  


From:  Dan Glynn, Parks & Recreation Director  


Subject: Park Impact Fee, Fee in Lieu of Land Dedication, and Public Facilities Needs Assessment  


 


Purpose 


The Park Impact Fee, Fee in Lieu of Land Dedication, and Public Facilities Needs Assessment was 
completed for the purpose to maintain the current standard level of service provided to City residents in 
regards to parkland, park infrastructure, and trails as the City grows. Due to state law, impact fees and 
Fee in Lieu of Land Dedication cannot be used as a way to increase the level of service.  


Impact fees assist in financing the capital costs associated with trails and park facility improvements. A 
fee in lieu of land dedication will continue to assist in financing the acquisition of land for public parks. 
The City currently charges a park impact fee and a fee in lieu of land for public parks. This fee is updated 
annually based on the Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index. However, the previous study 
was completed in 2009 and recommended periodical updates.  


City staff became aware that the current fee structure was outdated in 2018 and 2019 when a new park 
was developed and the capital costs to develop the park far exceeded the impact fees collected. City 
staff received a recommendation from nearby Park & Recreation Directors to have a study completed by 
Carla Gogin from Baker Tilly. This was due to recent experience in completing studies in Dane County. 
The Parks & Recreation Committee recommended to City Council to hire Baker Tilly to conduct a Park 
Impact Fee Study at the May 21, 2019 meeting. This motion passed unanimously. City Council approved 
of this action unanimously at the June 11, 2019 meeting. 


 


Process & Methodology  


The City’s 2018 Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan was used as the basis for the study. Which 
established a need for the parks, trails, and subsequent need for the infrastructure. It also provided 
other data such as parkland acreage. According to the US Census, the most recent population for the 
City is 13,060. Additionally, the US Census provided persons per household for different dwelling types. 
These estimates are used in the calculations in the document 


The City’s fee-in-lieu of land dedication standard is based on the City’s current inventory of 159.12 acres 
of parkland. This is comprised of 130.6 acres of active use parks and 28.4 acres of conservancy and 
natural areas.  


City staff inventoried items in parks classified as Mini Parks, Neighborhood Parks, and Community parks. 
These items had replacement costs valued by industry professionals such as landscape architects and 
playground salespeople. The sum of these improvements was found to total $17,675,636 and using the 







City’s current inventory of parkland, the estimated improvement cost per acre (active parkland) is 
$135,280.  


A trail improvement fee was considered due to the importance of trails highlighted in the 2018 
Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan. City staff provided the linear foot of trails within the City that 
were not provided by developers and provided the replacement value for the trails. The replacement 
value for trails were provided by park professionals who had recently completed projects in Dane 
County. This amount totaled to $422,200. The estimated cost per foot of trail is $22.  


The land costs to calculate the fee-in-lieu of land dedication is based on the City-wide average cost of 
land acquisition as allowed for by state law. It was determined that the 2009 study likely included street 
infrastructure costs. Current interpretation of State law requires street infrastructure costs be 
considered part of the park improvement fees. Therefore, street infrastructure costs have been 
incorporated into the park improvement fees. The new proposed fee-in-lieu of dedication is $78,585 per 
acre.   


 


Findings  


Below is a comparison of the updated 2021 fee summary with the current City fees. The study defines 
Group Quarters as a dwelling unit where individuals live or stay that is owned or managed by an entity 
or organization providing housing and/or services for the residents (for example a skilled-nursing 
facility). The Fee in Lieu of Land Dedication cost went down due to the aforementioned street 
infrastructure costs being included in the 2009 study which are not included in the Park Facilities 
Improvement Fee.  


Study Findings 


Dwelling Unit 
Type 


Park Facilities 
Improvement 


Trails Fee in Lieu of 
Land Dedication 


Total 


Single Family $3,741 $89 $2,647 $6,477 
Multi Family $2,597 $62 $1,838 $4,497 
Group Quarters $1,346 $32 $952 $2,330 


 


Current Fees 


Dwelling Unit 
Type 


Park Facilities 
Improvement 


Trails Fee in Lieu of 
Land Dedication 


Total 


Single Family $1,243 NA $3,823 $5,066 
Two-Family (per 
unit) 


$1,243 NA $3,828 $5,066 


Multi-Family (2 
bedrooms or 
more) 


$932 NA $2,868 $3,800 


Multi-Family (1 
bedroom or less) 


$621 NA $1,911 $2,532 


 







Ordinance Changes  


To be added before going to Planning Commission and City Council.  







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
Stoughton, Wisconsin 


 
PARK IMPACT FEE, FEE IN LIEU OF LAND DEDICATION AND 


PUBLIC FACILITY NEEDS ASSESSMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Baker Tilly US, LLP 
4807 Innovate Lane 


P.O. Box 7398 
Madison, WI 53707-7398 


608 249 6622 
800 362 7301 


 
 


Dated: March 8, 2021 







 
Table of Contents 
 


 
 


 Page No. 
 


Executive Summary 1 
 
Introduction 3 
 
Section A – Statutory Requirements 4 – 8 
 
Section B – Compliance with Wisconsin Impact Fee Requirements 9 – 10 
 
Section C – Fee Calculation 11 – 16 
 
Appendix A 17 - 18 
 
 
 







City of Stoughton 
Page 1 


 
 


 


Executive Summary 
 
 
The purpose of this project was to evaluate and update the City’s current park impact fee under 
Wisconsin Statute, Chapter 66, Section 66.0617 Impact Fees and its fee in lieu of land dedication 
under Wisconsin Statute, Chapter 236, and Section 236.45 Local Subdivisions Requirements. The 
park impact fee(s) as referenced throughout this report include both the trail and park development 
aspects of the park impact fee.  
 
According to the City of Stoughton’s (the “City”) 2018 Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan, the 
City is expecting to have population growth slightly higher than Dane County as a whole through 
2030. This anticipated growth will require additions to the City’s parkland and park facilities (trails 
and park capital improvements). Impact fees will continue to assist in financing the capital costs 
associated with trails and park facility improvements. A fee in lieu of land dedication will continue to 
assist in financing the acquisition or initial improvement of land for public parks.  
 
The City currently charges a park impact fee and a fee in lieu of land dedication as established by 
the following reports and ordinances: 
 


Stoughton, WI Code of Ordinances, Sec. 67-5 – Parks, playgrounds and land for athletic 
fields impact fee. Ordinance No. 0-8-09, 6-23-2009 


Stoughton, WI Code of Ordinances, Section 66-1101 – Provision of public lands and open 
spaces. Ordinance No. 0-7-09, 6-23-2009 


Public Facilities Needs Assessment and Impact Fee Study dated January 2009 (Ruekert & 
Mielke 2009) 


Per the City, they update the impact fee and fee in lieu of land dedication annually based on the 
Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index per Sec 66-1101.(2). 
  
This document serves as a summary of Baker Tilly’s analysis of the City’s existing park impact fee 
and its fee in lieu of land dedication. It also serves to satisfy the statutory obligations as outlined in 
Wisconsin Statute 66.0617 and Wisconsin Statute 236.45 to update its existing fees and public 
facility needs assessment. The primary resources used in this development of this study include:  
 


 The City of Stoughton 2018 Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation (the Plan) as prepared by 
Ayres Associates adopted on December 11, 2018. See the acknowledgements section of the 
Plan for those that were involved in its creation. The Plan is located on the City’s website.  


 The park inventory listing as provided by the City. This document was compiled by the City 
from the City insurance listing, replacement values, internal capital asset listing, observation 
and engineering assistance. Refer to Appendix A. 
 


 The trail inventory listing as provided by the City. This document was compiled by the City. 
Refer to Appendix A. 


 
 The land cost as provide by the City. The land cost is based on the City-wide average cost of 


unimproved land acquisition based on recent land sales and the cost to improve the land for 
public parks. Per s. 236.45(6)(ac), “improvement for public parks” means grading, 
landscaping, installation of utilities, construction of sidewalks, installation of playground 
equipment, and construction or installation of restroom facilities on land intended for public 
park purposes.”   


 







City of Stoughton 
Page 2 


 
 


 


Executive Summary (cont.) 
 
 
This study should be read in conjunction with these resources. We provide no assurance on the 
accuracy of the resources used to develop this study. 
 
The City may implement or update other impact fees at a later date; however, no consideration has 
been given to those possibilities in this report. 







City of Stoughton 
Page 3 


 
 


 


Introduction  
 
 
As previously stated in the Executive Summary, the City expects to experience population growth 
through 2030. Planning responsibly for new growth within a community is one of many challenges 
facing local governments. Effective accommodation of this development requires the construction 
and upgrade of public facilities and infrastructure to serve new residents. As well as additional park 
land to accommodate growth.  
 
It is common that during the construction and upgrade of public infrastructure, many residents and 
businesses that will occupy the newly developed areas of the community may not yet be present. 
The purchase of land and the development of land often precedes the inhabiting of the property. 
While this may be an obvious fact, it holds important consequence for the public financing of new 
development. In order to apportion the public costs of new development fairly and responsibly, some 
measure must be undertaken to ensure that the entire cost of accommodating new development is 
not born solely by the current residents of the municipality. One such measure to accomplish this 
goal is the use of impact fees and a fee-in-lieu of land dedication to offset the initial cost to local 
taxpayers of satisfying the additional demand on the public infrastructure and park land. 







City of Stoughton 
Page 4 


 
 


 


Section A – Statutory Requirements 
 
 
Wisconsin’s Impact Fee Statute 66.0617 prescribes the types of public infrastructure for which an 
impact fee may be charged, the costs that may be included in developing an impact fee, as well as 
the obligations on the part of the issuing municipality prior to and subsequent to the fee being 
charged. These obligations are detailed below. 
 
In addition, if a municipality charges a fee in lieu of land dedication in accordance with Wisconsin 
State Statute 236.45(6) (am), the municipality must follow the procedures under s. 66.0617 (3) to (5) 
and meet the requirements under s. 66.0617 (6) to (10). This is detailed below. 
 
Wisconsin State Statute Section 66.0617(1) Definitions: 
 
The following definitions as outlined in Wisconsin State Statute 66.0617(1) have been addressed in 
the fee computation. The requirements are as follows: 
 


 Per Subsection(1)(a), “Capital costs” means the capital costs to construct, expand or improve 
public facilities, including the cost of land, and including legal, engineering and design costs to 
construct, expand or improve public facilities, except that not more than 10% of capital costs may 
consist of legal, engineering and design costs unless the municipality can demonstrate that its 
legal, engineering and design costs which relate directly to the public improvement for which the 
impact fees were imposed exceed 10% of capital costs. “Capital costs” does not include other 
noncapital costs to construct, expand or improve public facilities, vehicles; or the costs of 
equipment to construct, expand or improve public facilities. 


Based on the definition above, only allowable capital costs are included in the impact fee 
computation.  


The City’s standard related to its fee-in-lieu of land dedication costs is outlined below. See Chapter 
236 requirements.  
 


 Per Subsection (1)(f)(1), “Public Facilities” means…parks, playgrounds, and land for athletic 
fields…….”. 


The projects included in the impact fee computation meet this definition. 


 Per Subsection (1)(g), “Service area” means geographical area delineated by a municipality within 
which there are public facilities. 


The service area for the impact fee and the fee-in-lieu of land dedication is the City of Stoughton. 
The park types, acreage standards and service area radius are detailed in the City of Stoughton’s 
2018 Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan. This document is located on the City’s website. 


 Per Subsection (1)(h), “Service standard” means a certain quantity or quality of public facilities 
relative to a certain number of persons, parcels of land or other appropriate measure, as specified 
by the municipality.  
 
The park types, acreage standards and service area radius are detailed in the City of Stoughton’s 
2018 Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan.  
 
The impact fee cost standard per acre is based on the replacement value of improvements 
provided to the City’s insurer and supported by the City’s capital asset records as well as 
observation. See Appendix A.  
 
 
 







City of Stoughton 
Page 5 


 
 


 


 
Section A – Statutory Requirements (cont.) 
 


 
Wisconsin State Statute Section 66.0617(1) Definitions (cont.): 
 


The City trail standard is outlined in Appendix A. 
 
The standards and service areas used for consideration in the impact fee calculation is for “active-
use” parks. The impact fee calculation does not include conservancy park areas and drainageways. 
Although these areas may be used for recreational purposes, they are not suitable for long-term 
“active use” recreational facility improvements. The City currently provides 9.95 acres of active-use 
acres of parkland per 1,000 residents for its impact fee calculation. 
 
The City’s standard related to its fee-in-lieu of land dedication is outlined below. See Chapter 236 
requirements.  


 
Wisconsin State Statute Section 66.0617(6) – Standards for Impact Fees: 
 
This report adheres to what an impact fee should reflect according to Wisconsin State Statute 
66.0617(6). The standard requirements are as follows: 
 


 Per Section (6)(a), shall bear a rational relationship to the need for new, expanded or improved 
public facilities that are required to serve land development. 


The fees found herein are for public facilities and land that are required to serve future 
developed land and the service demands that development creates. 


 Per Section (6)(am), may not include amounts for an increase in service capacity greater than the 
capacity necessary to serve the development for which the fee is imposed.  


The fees were developed to address the capacity necessary to service the development for which 
the fees are being imposed. 


 Per Section (6)(b), may not exceed the proportionate share of the capital costs that are required to 
serve land development, as compared to existing uses of land within the municipality. 


The capital costs, which form the basis for the fees developed as a part of this study, include 
actual as well as estimated replacement costs for land costs, park improvements and trail 
improvements. These costs were based on what was known at the time the study as 
assembled by City staff. These standards were then used to calculate a cost to be charged.  


 Per Section (6)(c), shall be based upon actual capital costs or reasonable estimates of capital costs 
for new, expanded or improved public facilities. 


The capital costs, which form the basis for the fee developed as a part of this study, include 
actual as well as estimated replacement costs for land costs, park improvements and trail 
improvements. These costs were based on what was known at the time of the study as 
assembled by City staff. These standards were then used to calculate a cost to be charged.  


 Per Section (6)(d), shall be reduced to compensate for other capital costs imposed by the 
municipality with respect to land development to provide or pay for public facilities, including special 
assessments, special charges, land dedications or fees in lieu of land dedications under Chapter 
236 or any other items of value. 


The other financing sources listed above were taken into consideration as a part of the fee 
computations. It has been determined that these financing sources have not been used to 
finance capital costs for park improvements. Therefore, these sources were not included in the 
fee calculations.  







City of Stoughton 
Page 6 


 
 


 


Section A – Statutory Requirements (cont.) 
 
 
Wisconsin State Statute Section 66.0617(6) – Standards for Impact Fees (cont.): 
 


 Per Section (6)(e), shall be reduced to compensate for moneys received from the federal or state 
government specifically to provide or pay for the public facilities for which the impact fees are 
imposed. 
 
The receipt of federal and or state grants was considered in the fee development. No grant 
funds have been received from federal or state governments specifically for park improvements 
or land purchases in the last ten years. City staff determined that state and federal grant funds 
cannot be relied upon to fund future park projects. Therefore, the fee has not been reduced for 
such funds. The City will continue to attempt to secure park grant funding. Any grant funds 
received in the future will be factored in future impact fee calculations.  
 


 Per Section (6)(f), may not include amounts necessary to address existing deficiencies in public 
facilities. 
 
The costs included in the fee computations are not related to curing existing deficiencies. 
 


 Per Section (6)(fm), may not include expenses for operation or maintenance of a public facility. 
 
The costs included in the fee computations do not include expenses for operation or maintenance 
of a public facility.  
 


 Section (6)(g) except as provided under this paragraph, shall be payable by the developer or the 
property owner to the municipality in full upon issuance of a building permit by the municipality. 
There are exceptions to this outlined in the statute.  
 
All fees will be due at the time of building permit issuance except for situations allowed for 
under this section of the impact fee statute.  


 
Wisconsin State Statute Section 66.0617 (7r) – Impact Fee Reports 
 


 At the time that the municipality collects an impact fee, it shall provide to the developer for which it 
received the fee an accounting of how the fee will be spent.  
 
The City is aware of this requirement.  


 
Wisconsin State Statute Section 66.0617 (8) – Requirements for Impact Fee Revenues 
 


  Revenues from each impact fee that is imposed shall be placed in a separate segregated 
interest−bearing account and shall be accounted for separately from the other funds of the 
municipality. Impact fee revenues and interest earned on impact fee revenues may be expended 
only for the particular capital costs for which the impact fee was imposed, unless the fee is 
refunded under sub. (9). 
 
The City accounts for its fees in a separate general ledger account. Interest income is allocated 
to this account on a monthly basis.  
 







City of Stoughton 
Page 7 


 
 


 


Section A – Statutory Requirements (cont.) 
 
 
Wisconsin State Statute Section 66.0617 (9) – Refund of Impact Fees 
 


 Except as provided in this subsection, impact fees that are not used within 8 years after they are 
collected to pay capital costs for which they were imposed shall be refunded to the payer of fees for 
the property with respect to which the impact fees were imposed, along with any interest that has 
accumulated, as described in sub. (8). Impact fees that are collected for capital costs related to lift 
stations or collecting and treating sewage that are not used within 10 years after they are collected 
to pay the capital costs for which they were imposed, shall be refunded to the payer of the fees for 
the property with respect to which the impact fees were imposed, along with any interest that has 
accumulated, as described in sub.(8). The 10-year time limit for using impact fees that is specified 
under this subsection may be extended for 3 years if the municipality adopts a resolution stating 
that, due to extenuating circumstances or hardship in meeting the 10 year limit, it needs an 
additional 3 years to use the impact fees that were collected.  


The resolution shall include detailed written findings that specify the extenuating circumstances or 
hardship that led to the need to adopt a resolution under this sub-section. For purposes of the time 
limits in this subsection, an impact fee is paid on the date the developer obtains a bond or 
irrevocable letter of credit in the amount of the unpaid fees executed in the name of the municipality 
under sub. (6) (g).  


According to City management, the City has spent down its impact fee collections in 
accordance with state statute guidance and no refunds have been made to date.  


 
NOTE: The impact fee requirements outlined in this section are subject to change by the legislature at 
any time. Refer to the state statute for the statutory requirements.  
 
Wisconsin State Statute Chapter 236 - Platting Lands and Recording and Vacating Plats 
 
A fee-in-lieu of land dedication must follow the requirements of Wisconsin State Statute Chapter 236 
– Platting Lands and Recording and Vacating Plats. See the requirements below.  
 
In addition, if a municipality charges a fee-in-lieu of land dedication in accordance with Wisconsin 
State Statute 236.45(6) (am), the municipality must follow the procedures under s. 66.0617 (3) to (5) 
and meet the requirements under s. 66.0617 (6) to (10). These are detailed above. 
 
Wisconsin State Statute Chapter 236 (6) – Requirements for Approval Conditions 
 


 Per Subsection(6)(ac), “Improvement of land for public parks” means grading, landscaping, 
installation of utilities, construction of sidewalks, installation of playground equipment, and 
construction or installation of restroom facilities on land intended for public park purposes.  


Based on the definition above, only allowable costs are included in the fee-in-lieu of land 
dedication. See Appendix A. 


 Per Subsection (6)(b), any land dedication, easement, or other public improvement or fee for the 
acquisition or initial improvement of land for a public park that is required by a municipality, town, or 
county as a condition of approval under this chapter mush bear a rational relationship to a need for 
the land dedication, easement, or other public improvement, parkland acquisition or initial 
improvement fee resulting from the subdivision or other division of land and must be proportional to 
the need. 


The City is meeting this requirement. The City is providing a service level of 12.2 acres per 1,000 
residents. See assumptions.  


 







City of Stoughton 
Page 8 


 
 


 


Section A – Statutory Requirements (cont.) 
 
 
Wisconsin State Statute Chapter 236 (6) – Requirements for Approval Conditions 
 


 If a subdivision ordinance of a municipality, town, or county requires, as a condition of approval 
under this chapter, that a subdivider dedicate land for public park, the municipality, town or county 
may offer the the subdivider the option of either dedicating land consistent with the municipality’s, 
town’s or county’s park plan and comprehensive plan or paying a fee or other charge under par. 
(am) in lieu of the dedication. If the subdivider elects to pay a fee or other change under the 
paragraph, the fee or other charge is payable by the landowner to the municipality, town, or county 
upon issuance of a building permit by the municipality, town, or country. If the subdivers elects to 
dedicate land under this paragraph, unless the municipality, town, or county agrees otherwise, the 
subdivider only may dedicate land that is consistent with the municipality’s, town’s or county’s park 
plan and comprehensive plan.  


See Section C for the fee-in-lieu of land dedication fee calculation. If land dedication is selected, the 
City’s land dedication standard is 1,468 square feet per dwelling unit.  See the assumptions in 
Section C. 


A fee-in-lieu of land dedication is due upon issuance of a building permit. 


NOTE: The fee-in-lieu of land dedication requirements outlined in this section are subject to change by 
the legislature at any time. Refer to the state statute for the statutory requirements.  


 







City of Stoughton 
Page 9 


 
 


 


Section B – Compliance with Wisconsin Impact Fee Requirements  
 


 
Impact Fee Process 
 
See Wisconsin State Statute 66.0617 for the detailed process. In addition, if a municipality charges a 
fee in lieu of land dedication in accordance with Wisconsin State Statute 236.45(6), the municipality 
must follow the procedures under s. 66.0617 (3) to (5) and meet the requirements under s. 66.0617 
(6) to (10).  
 
The process followed and information utilized in the development of the impact fees / fee in lieu of 
land dedication is summarized below: 
  
 Requires a Public Hearing (s. 66.0617 (3)):  


Class 1 notice under Chapter 985  


Provide copy of proposed ordinances  


Provide public facilities needs assessment  


 Based on a Public Facilities Needs Assessment (for facilities included
in the impact fee calculation) (s. 66.0617 (4)): 


 


Inventory of existing facilities, including deficiencies  


Identification of new public facilities  


Estimated (or actual) capital cost of new public facilities  


Effect of recovering capital costs on affordable housing  


Available for public inspection and copying in the office of the clerk
at least 20 days before hearing 


 


 Follow Impact Fee Standards:  


Rational relationship to the need for new facilities  


Proportionality  


Actual costs or reasonable estimates  


Net of other charges  


Net of grants  


Must exclude improvements to address deficiencies 


May not include expenses for operation or maintenance of a public
facility 


 


Payable by the developer or property owner to the City in full upon
the issuance of a building permit by the City 


 


 Establish Accounting Requirements:  


Use of funds restricted  


Subject to refund  


 Specify Appeal Procedure (s. 66.0617 (10))  


 







City of Stoughton 
Page 10 


 
 


 


Section B – Compliance with Wisconsin Impact Fee Requirements (cont.)  
 


 
Imposition of the Park Impact Fee / Fee-in-lieu of Land Dedication 
 
The park impact fee and fee-in-lieu of land dedication will be due at the time of building permit 
issuance except for situations allowed for under this section of the impact fee statute.  
 


Wisconsin State Statute Section 66.0617(7) - Low Cost Housing 


In general, the level of the fees in relation to average housing cost should not impede the affordability 
of low-cost housing. For example, including the proposed single family park impact fee and fee in lieu 
of land dedication of $6,477, in a typical 30 year mortgage at 4% interest would equate to an 
additional monthly payment of $31.  According to AreaVibes Inc., the median home price in 
Stoughton is $182,400. Assuming a down payment of 20%, the average monthly mortgage payment 
would be $697. The impact fee would be 4.4% of the monthly payment. In addition, if the owner of a 
multifamily dwelling were to include the proposed multi-family fees of $4,497 in a mortgage with the 
same terms, the additional monthly payment would be $21.  
 
The impact fee statute allows for an exemption from or reduced fees on new development that is 
approved for affordable housing. If a portion of the project has been approved for affordable housing, 
then the fee may be adjusted accordingly at the discretion of the City Council upon recommendation 
of the Planning Commission. 
 
Information from the 2013-2017 US Census showed that the City of Stoughton’s median household 
income was $63,333 (2017 dollars). Dane County's median household income was $67,631 (2017) 
dollars). Wisconsin’s household income was $56,759 (2017 dollars). 
 
Updates to the Report 
 
The park impact fees should be evaluated for adjustment on a periodic basis based on a Construction 
Cost Index. The fee-in-lieu of land dedication should also be evaluated for adjustment on a periodic 
basis to account for increases / decreases in land costs. This will allow for changes in growth, project 
costs, estimates or other projects to be incorporated into the fees. See assumptions for 
recommendations.  







City of Stoughton 
Page 11 


 
 


 


Section C – Fee Calculation 
 


 
Assumptions  
 


 The existing park impact fees were based on Stoughton, WI Code of Ordinances, Section. 67-
5, Ordinance No. 0-8-09, Public Facilities Needs Assessment for Park Improvements (Ruekert 
& Mielke 2009). The fee has been updated annually based on the Engineering News Record 
Construction Cost Index per Sec 66-1101.(2). 


 The fee in lieu of parkland dedication was last updated in 2009. See Stoughton, WI Code of 
Ordinances, Section 66-1101, Ordinance No. 0-7-09.  


 The City’s current 2018 Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (Plan) was used as the basis 
for this study. This Plan was approved on December 11, 2018. As noted in the Plan, “Parks are 
gateways to healthy, prosperous and connected communities.” The plan also supports the 
guidelines established in the City of Stoughton 2017 Comprehensive Plan which can be found 
on the City website. 


https://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/index.asp?SEC=1E694A0C-A5D8-41FF-92C5-9598AA47B3AB 


 According to the US Census, 2013-2017, the most recent population estimate for the City is 
13,060 as of July 1, 2018, which is an increase of approximately 400 since 2010 (12,611 
population) or a 3.5% increase. According to the US Census 2013-2017 survey results, it is 
expected that the City’s population will grow to 13,800 by the year 2030 or an increase of 
approximately 740 or 5.7%. The City’s population in 2019 and 2020 was 12,911 and 13,130, 
respectively. 


 According to the United States Census Bureau (2010 results – latest known), the City has total 
land area in square miles of 4.92 which equates to a population density of 2,563 inhabitants per 
square mile when using the 2013-2017 ACS estimates and 2,624 inhabitants per square mile 
when using the 2019 population and 2,668 when using the 2020 population.  


 According to the City’s parkland inventory records, the City has approximately 130.66 improved 
acres of active parkland for existing residents. This was used to compute the impact fee. 


 The City’s fee-in-lieu of land dedication standard is based on 159.12 acres of parkland. This is 
comprised of 130.66 acres of active use parks and 28.46 of conservancy parks and natural 
areas.  


 According to the City, the City has park improvements in the amount of $17,675,636. This 
includes all City parks that only have City improvements i.e. no developer added 
improvements. The estimated improvement cost per acre is $135,280 (see Appendix A, Table 
I.) 


 According to the City, the City has also used its resources to finance trails in the amount of 
$422,200. The estimated cost per foot of trail is $22 (see Appendix A, Table III.)   


 The land costs to calculate the fee-in-lieu of land dedication is based on the City-wide average 
cost of land acquisition and “improvements of land for public park costs” as allowed for under 
Chapter 236. The cost per acre is $78,585 (see Appendix A, Table IV). 


 Park development fees will not be assessed to nonresidential land uses as park usage is 
primarily residential in this community. 


 The Park & Open Space standards can be found in the City of Stoughton 2018 Comprehensive 
Outdoor Recreation Plan. 







City of Stoughton 
Page 12 


 
 


 


Section C – Fee Calculation (cont.) 
 


 
Assumptions (cont.) 
 


 For purposes of this analysis, it is assumed that there will be an average of 2.78 persons per 
household for single-family housing units and 1.93 persons per household for duplex and 
multifamily housing units. See Section C (pages 14 – 16) for the computation and source 
information. 


 For purposes of this report, “Group Quarters Dwelling Unit” is defined as follows: a dwelling unit 
where individuals live or stay that is owned or managed by an entity or organization providing 
housing and / or services for the residents. The services may include, but are not limited to, 
custodial or medical care and other types of assistance (for example a skilled-nursing facility). 
Residency is restricted to the individuals receiving the services, and the individuals typically do 
not participate in the labor force while a resident. Typically, a Group Quarters Dwelling Unit has 
one resident per unit.  


 It is assumed that City of Stoughton parks, particularly the athletic facilities, will be used by 
other nearby communities. However, it is further assumed that such use will be reciprocal in 
that Stoughton residents will use facilities in other jurisdictions in roughly equal measure. 
Nonresident use is not considered to have a measurable influence on the level of improvement 
or the allocation of capital improvement costs as the City does not include non-residents in its 
park standard. 


 The City has one impact fee zone which is comprised of the entire City of Stoughton (s 
66.0617(5). 


 The impact fee standard and service area used for consideration in this study are for “active-
use” parks. It does not include conservancy park areas and drainage-ways. Although these 
areas may be used for recreational purposes, they are not suitable for long-term “active use” 
recreational facility improvements. The City is currently providing 9.95 acres of active-use acres 
of parkland per 1,000 residents using the 2020 population of 13,130. The calculation is (130.66 
/ 13,130)*1,000 = 9.95. 


 The fee-in-lieu of land dedication standard used for consideration in this study is comprised of 
“active-parks” of 130.66 and “passive use” parks of 28.46 for a total of 159.12 acres. While the 
type of land dedicated by developers is typically used for the development of active use parks, 
such use is not required. The city is currently providing 12.12 acres of parkland per 1,000 
residents using the 2020 population of 13,130. The calculation is (159.12 / 13,130)*1,000 = 
12.12. 


 The City’s land dedication requirement is 1,468 square feet per dwelling unit. This is computed 
as follows: (12.12 acres * 43,560 square feet in an acre) / 1,000 = 527.95 square foot per 
person. 527.95 square foot per person * 2.78 (household size – see Appendix A) = 1,468 
square feet per dwelling unit.  


 
Recommendation 
 
The City should consider whether its existing park impact fee and fee in lieu of land dedication fee 
should be updated with the fees identified and explained on the following pages. The Group 
Quarters dwelling unit type has been broken out from the multi-family dwelling unit type. 
 







City of Stoughton 
Page 13 


 
 


 


Section C – Fee Calculation (cont.) 
 


 
 
Fee Summary  
 


Dwelling  
Unit 
Type 


Park 
Facilities 


Improvement Trails 


Fee in Lieu  
of Land 


Dedication Total 


Single Family $ 3,741 $ 89 $ 2,647 $ 6,477 


Multi Family 2,597 62 1,838 4,497 


Group Quarters 1,346 32 952 2,330 
  


 







City of Stoughton
Page 14


Park Facilities Improvement Impact Fee Calculation


1 2
Dwelling (A)
Unit Persons Cost per 3 (1*2)
Type per Household Person Fee


Single Family 2.78                  1,346.03$         3,741.98$             


Multi Family 1.93                  1,346.03$         2,597.85$             


Group Quarters 1.00                  1,346.03$         1,346.03$             


Standards:
Cost standard per acre 135,280$              B


Parkland acres per 1,000 residents 9.95                      C


Cost per Person:


Cost standard per acre 135,280$              B
Multiplied by: acres per person 0.0099500            per above


Cost per person 1,346.03$             


A) Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates.
B) Per the City of Stoughton - Appendix A. Table I.
C) Per the City of Stoughton


Section C - Fee Calculation (cont.)







City of Stoughton
Page 15


Trail Impact Fee Calculation


1 2
Dwelling (A)
Unit Persons Cost per 3 (1*2)
Type per Household Person Fee


Single Family 2.78                  32.15$              89.40$                  


Multi Family 1.93                  32.15$              62.07$                  


Group Quarters 1.00                  32.15$              32.15$                  


Standards:
Cost standard per foot 22.42$                  B


Current Statistics:
Estimated 2020 City population 13,130                  C


Footage per person
Total footage 18,830                  D
Divided by: current residents 13,130                  C


Foot per person 1.4341203            


Cost per Person:


Cost standard per foot 22$                       B
Multiplied by: footage per person 1.4341203            per above


Cost per person 32.15$                  


A) Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates.
B) Per the City of Stoughton - Appendix A. Table III.
C) Source: City of Stoughton
D) Per the City of Stoughton - Appendix A. Table III.


Section C - Fee Calculation (cont.)







City of Stoughton
Page 16


Fee in lieu of land dedication


1 2
Dwelling (A)
Unit Persons Cost per 3 (1*2)
Type per Household Person Fee


Single Family 2.78                  952.45$            2,647.82$             


Multi Family 1.93                  952.45$            1,838.24$             


Group Quarters 1.00                  952.45$            952.45$                


Standards:
Cost standard per acre 78,585$                B


Parkland acres per 1,000 residents 12.12                    C


Cost per Person:


Cost standard per acre 78,585$                B
Multiplied by: acres per person 0.0121200            per above


Cost per person 952.45$                


A) Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates.
B) Per the City of Stoughton - Appendix A. Table IV.
C) Per the City of Stoughton


Section C - Fee Calculation (cont.)







 


 


APPENDIX A 
 
 







Appendix A Page 17
Table I. Inventory of Park Capital Improvements 


2020
Value of City


Neighborhood Parks Acres Improvements


Bjoin Park 7.23                        931,840$            
Dunkirk Avenue Park 1.31                        214,765              
East Side Park 1.95                        1,057,735           
Lowell Street Park 14.96                      1,101,620           
Nordic Ridge Park 6.62                        921,560              
Norse Park 8.00                        1,434,915           
Schefelker Park 10.41                      191,933              
Veteran's Memorial Park 3.93                        629,265              
Virgin Lake Park 6.96                        576,850              
Westview Ridge Park 5.06                        672,543              


Subtotal 66.43                      7,733,026           


Mini Parks


Criddle Park 0.22                        120,150              
Division Street Park 0.76                        691,320              
Riverside Park 1.36                        356,805              


Roby/Page Park 0.13                        103,090              


Subtotal 2.47                        1,271,365           


Community Parks


Mandt Park 33.20                      5,352,435           
Racetrack Park 28.56                      3,318,810           


Subtotal 61.76                      8,671,245           


Park improvement subtotal 130.66                    17,675,636         


AVERAGE COST PER ACRE TO IMPROVE 135,280$            


Source: City of Stoughton







Appendix A Page 18
Table II. Park Inventory


Total Cost Less 10% Internal Improvement
Park Per Insurance Non Insurance Developer Engineering Road Bisecting Cost


Park Type Acres Printout Items Total Funded Net Planning Frontage Roads Total Per Acre


Included In Park Improvement Calculation 


Mandt Park Community 33.20            2,949,850$       56,000$         3,005,850$    -$                   3,005,850$    300,585$       906,750$       1,139,250$    5,352,435$       161,218$          
Racetrack Park Community 28.56            2,298,950         20,650           2,319,600      -                     2,319,600      231,960         767,250         -                     3,318,810         116,205            


Subtotal 61.76            5,248,800         76,650           5,325,450      -                     5,325,450      532,545         1,674,000      1,139,250      8,671,245         


Bjoin Park Neighborhood 7.23              305,000            26,400           331,400         -                     331,400         33,140           567,300         -                     931,840            128,885            
Dunkirk Avenue Park Neighborhood 1.31        90,000        5,900             95,900           -                     95,900           9,590             109,275         -                     214,765            163,943            
East Side Park Neighborhood 1.95        520,000      18,850           538,850         -                     538,850         53,885           465,000         -                     1,057,735         542,428            
Lowell Street Park Neighborhood 14.96            215,000            23,450           238,450         -                     238,450         23,845           532,425         306,900         1,101,620         73,638              
Nordic Ridge Park Neighborhood 6.62        569,000      23,600           592,600         -                     592,600         59,260           269,700         -                     921,560            139,208            
Norse Park Neighborhood 8.00        895,000      50,150           945,150         -                     945,150         94,515           395,250         -                     1,434,915         179,364            
Schefelker Park Neighborhood 10.41      81,875        5,950             87,825           -                     87,825           8,783             95,325           -                     191,933            18,437              
Veteran's Memorial Park Neighborhood 3.93        157,500      2,400             159,900         -                     159,900         15,990           453,375         -                     629,265            160,118            
Virgin Lake Park Neighborhood 6.96        315,000      6,500             321,500         -                     321,500         32,150           223,200         -                     576,850            82,881              
Westview Ridge Park Neighborhood 5.06        170,000      18,675           188,675         -                     188,675         18,868           465,000         -                     672,543            132,914            


Subtotal 66.43            3,318,375         181,875         3,500,250      -                     3,500,250      350,026         3,575,850      306,900         7,733,026         


Criddle Park Mini Park 0.22              77,500              4,250             81,750           -                     81,750           8,175             30,225           -                     120,150            546,136            
Division Street Park Mini Park 0.76              -                        4,950             4,950             -                     4,950             495                606,825         79,050           691,320            909,632            
Riverside Park Mini Park 1.36              -                        11,550           11,550           -                     11,550           1,155             344,100         -                     356,805            262,357            
Roby/Page Park Mini Park 0.13        35,000        1,650       36,650     -               36,650     3,665       62,775     -               103,090            793,000      


Subtotal 2.47              112,500            22,400           134,900         -                     134,900         13,490           1,043,925      79,050           1,271,365         


Total Park Improvements 130.66          8,679,675$       280,925$       8,960,600$    -$                   8,960,600$    896,061$       17,675,636$     135,280$          


Note 1: Table II. includes all City parks that have been improved by the City
Note 2: Cost per LF of road frontage $465, cost per LF of internal / bisecting roads $930


Table III. Trail Inventory


Total feet of City Trails 18,830               


Total miles of City Trails 3.57                   


Replacement Value 422,200$           


Replacement cost per foot 22.42$               


Table IV. Fee in lieu of land dedication


Cost per acre - per City land sales 60,000$             
Grading / utilities 18,585               


Total Cost 78,585$             





		Impact Fee Memo

		FINAL - StoughtonParkImpactFees - 3.08.2021



